IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GLEN "TREY" MARTIN

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

v.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2008-CA-01581

FRANKLIN COUNTY MISSISSIPPI

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(Oral Argument Not Requested)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT:

E-MAIL:kevin@rundlettlawfirm.com

J. KEVIN RUNDLETT, N RUNDLETT LAW FIRM, PLLC 125 SOUTH CONGRESS STREET SUITE 1200 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201 TELEPHONE: (601) 353-8504 FACSIMILE: (601) 353-8506

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GLEN "TREY" MARTIN

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

v.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2008-CA-01581

FRANKLIN COUNTY MISSISSIPPI

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

On August 21, 2008, the Circuit Court of Franklin County, Mississippi, Honorable Forrest A. Johnson, presiding, granted final judgment in favor of Defendant/Appellee.

Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on September 18, 2008.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Glenn "Trey" Martin, Plaintiff-Appellant herein, being aggrieved by the judgment of the Circuit Court of Franklin County, Mississippi, as rendered in civil action number 05CV109, hereby prosecutes this, his Appeal, to the Supreme Court of Mississippi.

The Appellant respectfully submits the following issues for review by the Court:

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT FRANKLIN COUNTY ADEQUATELY WARNED THE PLAINTIFF OF THE EXTREMELY DANGEROUS CONDITION OF THE BRIDGE AT ISSUE
 - A. Whether Franklin County Had Clear Notice of the Dangerous Condition of the Bridge at Issue
 - B. Whether the Trial Court Erred by not Admitting an Important Article Proving that Franklin County Did not Take Proper Steps to Protect the Public
 - C. There Were No Signs Present on the Date the Bridge Abutment Caved in and Injured Trey Martin
 - D. Piles of Dirt and Non Permanent Signs Were not Adequate Warnings of the Dangers Associated with the Bridge at Issue
- II. WHETHER THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE INJURIES SUSTAINED BY TREY MARTIN WAS FRANKLIN COUNTY'S FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY WARN. HOWEVER, EVEN IF TREY MARTIN WAS PARTIALLY AT FAULT WHETHER HE WAS ONLY CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT, AND SUCH IS NOT A BAR TO RECOVERY
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO LEVY SANCTIONS ON DEFENSE COUNSEL AFTER LEARNING OF EXTREME UNETHICAL CONDUCT DURING TRIAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below.

This is a personal injury action filed by Glenn "Trey" Martin, III pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act against Franklin County, Mississippi and the Franklin County Board of Supervisors.

The course of proceedings in this civil action is briefly summarized below:

1 0		
May 29, 2004	-	Trey Martin was severely injured when the bridge abutment at issue collapsed, causing him to fall approximately 30 feet.
May 13, 2005	-	Martin serves statutory Notice of Claim letter. (CP 11-12).
November 8, 2005	-	Martin files the Complaint. (CP 04-10).
November 30, 2005	<u>.</u> . · ·	Franklin County files Motion to Dismiss claims against the individual board members and claims for punitive damages. (CP 14-18).
December 16, 2005	-	Franklin County files its Answer. (CP 28-35).
March 13, 2006	-	Judgment of Dismissal as to individual Board members entered. (CP 43).
January 8, 2007	-	Franklin County Files Motion to Dismiss based upon Plaintiff failing to obtain alternate counsel. (CP 143-145).
February 14, 2007	-	Order allowing Plaintiff 7 days to obtain counsel or inform Court of intent to proceed pro se.
March 8, 2007	-	Brad Oberhousen, Esq. and J. Kevin Rundlett, Esq. enter an appearance on behalf of Plaintiff. (CP 158-159).
December 11-12, 200	7-	Bench trial on the merits before the Honorable Forrest A. Johnson in the Circuit Court of Franklin County.
August 8, 2008	-	Erroneous order finding in favor of the Defendant. (CP 517-518).
August 25, 2008	-	Final Judgment Dismissing Defendant with Prejudice. (CP 519)
0 . 1 . 10 . 2000		

Notice of Appeal filed by Plaintiff. (CP 521)

September 18, 2008 -

B. Statement of the Facts.

At the time of the incident at issue in this case, there was a substantial bridge, constructed and maintained by Franklin County, Mississippi, on Garden City Road between Liberty Road and Highway 33 in Franklin County. The bridge crossed an approximate 30 foot deep ravine and creek. Trey Martin's family owns a hunting camp on Garden City Road. On May 29th, 2004 the Plaintiff and several of his friends and children traveled from their home in Louisiana to the hunting camp for a vacation. Mr. Martin had not been to the camp since the 2003 hunting season.

As early as February of 2004, Franklin County became aware that the bridge at issue was a serious danger to the public. The County ordered that the bridge be closed and did nothing more than place piles of dirt in front of the bridge. Prior to the accident, the County also became aware that the piles of dirt were not keeping the public from crossing the bridge. Instead of following any of the mandates of the Mississippi Department of Transportation or the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, it simply put out more dirt. Had the County taken appropriate steps to close the bridge and warn the public, Mr. Martin would not have been severely injured, and Ms. Allen would still be alive.

Martin and his friends arrived at the camp on the evening of May 29th, 2004 and proceeded to unload their gear and four wheelers. After unloading, several members of their group decided to go for a ride on the ATV's. Jennifer Allen drove the ATV owned by Trey Martin, and Trey Martin rode as a passenger. David Hedzinger was operating an ATV and Trey's son was driving another. The group then proceeded North on Garden City Road and approached the bridge at issue that crosses Wells Creek.

David Hedzinger crossed the bridge abutment first with no problem. There was a small dirt hump in front of the bridge, but there were no warning signs present. Jennifer drove the ATV over

the hump. As she did so the ground connecting the road and the bridge suddenly collapsed, causing Trey Martin, Jennifer Allen, and the ATV to plunge approximately 30 feet and violently crash into the bed of the creek. As a result of this tragic incident Jennifer Allen was killed and Trey Martin suffered extensive injuries including, but not limited to, severe lacerations to his scalp, post-concussive syndrome, traumatic brain injury, memory loss, speech problems, emotional distress, and disability as a result of this tragic incident.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court's ruling in favor of Franklin County is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The Plaintiff proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Franklin County was on notice that the bridge at issue was a serious danger to the public. Franklin County had a duty to adequately warn the public, including Trey Martin, of the danger of the potential for the failure of the bridge abutment. The County further knew that the method it was using to attempt to close the bridge was not keeping the public from crossing, yet it made no changes. Furthermore, the method used to attempt to close the bridge increased the danger of failure of the abutment and was not in any way in compliance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices. The Trial Court erred in ruling that Franklin County took substantial precautionary steps in closing the bridge.

The Trial Court further erred in ruling that the sole proximate cause of the Plaintiff's injuries was the Plaintiff and other individual's decision to proceed past the dirt piles. Even if the Plaintiff were contributorily negligent, it was error not to attribute some negligence to the County.

The Trial Court erred in not sanctioning Defense counsel for highly unethical behavior during trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a claim based on the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, the trial judge sits as the finder of fact. Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-13(1) (Rev. 2002). A circuit judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor, and his findings should not be reversed on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. *Donaldson v. Covington County*, 846 So. 2d 219, 222 (Miss. 2003). The circuit judge's findings of fact and conclusions of law will not be disturbed unless the judge abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Miss. Dep't of Transp. v. Trosclair*, 851 So. 2d 408, 413 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT FRANKLIN COUNTY ADEQUATELY WARNED THE PLAINTIFF OF THE EXTREMELY DANGEROUS CONDITION OF THE BRIDGE AT ISSUE

The Trial Judge properly ruled that Franklin County was not provided immunity pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. (T.R. at 196), and See *Newton v. Lofton*, 840 So. 2d. 833 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). The Court further correctly ruled that the ultimate question was whether or not the County was negligent in failing to warn the public of the dangers associated with the bridge. Id. The Mississippi Tort Claims Act provides that a governmental entity may be liable for injury caused by a dangerous condition on government property if it was caused by the negligent or other wrongful conduct of an employee or the governmental entity or if there was actual notice of the dangerous, non obvious condition, and the government failed to protect or warn the public within a reasonable time. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(v).

A. Franklin County Had Clear Notice of the Dangerous Condition of the Bridge at Issue

The Garden City Bridge abutment collapsed and severely injured Trey Martin on or about May 29, 2004. Franklin County was made aware of the dangerous condition of the bridge as early as February 9, 2004, some 3 ½ months earlier. (R.E. at 42). Notification was provided by a bridge inspection report addressed to the Franklin County Board of Supervisors. *Id.* It stated that "[v]ery serious bank erosion is taking place on the creek banks. A NRCS project is planned for correction of this problem. The creek banks are threatening to undermine the west abutment....Recommend starting construction of this repair project as soon as possible." *Id.* As a result of the notification, the Board of Supervisors voted to close the bridge.

In February, 2004, Franklin County placed piles of dirt in front of the bridge in an attempt to stop traffic from crossing in an effort to close the bridge. (R.E. at 42). Said measures did not work. Not only was the County aware that the bridge was in a dangerous condition, it was also aware that the piles of dirt were not stopping the public from using the bridge. During trial, a document entitled "County Road/Bridge Improvement Report" was entered into evidence. Id. Said document is dated March 12, 2004, and stated "Garden City Rd.SW-Hauling dirt to Block road off, truck going over dirt." Tellingly, Jimmy Jones, Chancery Clerk for Franklin County, testified at trial that the board of supervisors knew on March 12, 2004, that vehicles were still crossing the bridge despite the dirt, and its solution was to simply put out more dirt. (T.R. at 276). Thereafter, the Board of Supervisor's president, Woodrow Wilson, also testified that the board knew the dirt piles did not keep vehicles off of the bridge. (T.R. at 295).

During trial, a newspaper article from the *Franklin Advocate* dated March 18, 2004, was admitted into evidence. (R.E. at 55). The article quotes a discussion from a board of supervisors meeting and stated, "Board President George Collins asked Wilson: 'We(county) have that road

closed, don't we Woody?', 'Yeah, but that still don't keep them from going through,' Wilson answered." If the County knew the bridge was a danger to the public and that the steps it had taken were not working, it had a duty to choose an alternative method to alert the public. **Id.**

B. The Trial Court Erred by not Admitting an Important Article Proving that Franklin County Did not Take Proper Steps to Protect the Public

During the testimony of George Hammitt, Plaintiff's expert civil engineer, a newspaper article dated March 29th was not allowed into evidence. (T.R. at 137). The Trial Court erred in not allowing said article into evidence. The Mississippi Court of Appeals has stated that the decision of a trial judge not to admit or exclude evidence is not reversible error unless the error adversely affects a substantial right of a party. *Alpha Gulf Coast, Inc. v. Jackson*, 801 So. 2d 709, 729 (Miss. 2001.

Said article was relied upon by Mr. Hammitt in formulating his opinion and preparing for trial and was offered to further prove the County was on notice that its methods of closing the bridge were inadequate. **Id.** The Court allowed the article to be read into evidence as a proffer for appellate purposes. The proffer states in pertinent part as follows:

Franklin County supervisors and Chancery Clerk Jimmy Jones paid a visit to the Well's Creek bridge, Garden City District One Monday morning and found out what they knew to be true. The bridge cannot be repaired by the county, and steps must be completed to keep any traffic out of the area....The board agreed to take steps necessary in closing the road to traffic....Franklin County supervisors will shortly begin the steps listed above to keep people off the bridge. Shown on the bridge are supervisor Jerry Lynn Howell, supervisor Chad Smith, Ingram Thompson, supervisor Woodrow Wilson, supervisor M. George Collins.

(T.R. at 220)(R.E. at 53).

Trial testimony absolutely proves that the County was on notice that people were still crossing the bridge. This goes to the heart of the Plaintiff's case. Furthermore, the 2007 newspaper article proved that three years after the original engineering report that warned of bridge's dangers

that the bridge needed to be closed and additional steps needed to be taken to keep people off the bridge. The County breached its duty to act reasonably and keep the public safe. Failure of the Trial Court to Consider this evidence substantially and adversely affected the rights of Trey Martin.

C. There Were No Signs Present on the Date the Bridge Abutment Caved in and Injured Trey Martin

The County had a duty to warn the public, including Trey Martin, of the bridge's dangerous condition. David Hedzinger was with Mr. Martin on the night the bridge abutment collapsed. He testified at trial that he drove a separate vehicle to the camp and saw no warning signs on Garden City Road. (T.R. at 13). He further testified that he was sure there were not dirt piles present as depicted in a photograph provided by the defense. (T.R. at 22-23). When asked whether there were any dirt mounds present, he responded "[t]he two on the left definitely were not there...and I know that because I had to drive Trey's truck to the edge of that to pull out the four-wheeler." (T.R. at 23). Mr. Hedzinger further testified that he saw no warning signs whatsoever when he drove back to the camp in broad daylight after visiting Trey Martin in the hospital. (T.R. at 24). In response to the Court's questioning, Mr. Hedzinger stated that there was about two feet of dirt sloping up to the bridge, and that it provided no warning to him that there was any problem with the bridge. (T.R. at 49).

Trey Martin testified that when he and Ms. Allen approached the bridge, there were small mounds of dirt and evidence of other vehicles crossing onto the bridge. (T.R. at 55). He stated it just looked like work or construction had been done. **Id.** Trey also testified that when he and his friends traveled into the camp from the West, he saw no road closed or bridge out signs. (T.R. at 56).

Glenn Martin, Trey's father, testified that he traveled from Jackson to the camp as soon as

he got word Trey had been injured. (T.R. at 177). He stated, "...there was no signs. Nothing to tell a prudent person, including myself - - in fact, it gave me chills because if I had been riding through there, I would have went off. There was nothing at all to tell you to stop." Id. Glenn Martin also testified that he traveled the entire Garden City Road and did not see a road closed or bridge out sign. Id. He testified that the route traveled on the way to the camp was from the West, from highway 33. Id. The bridge was further east from the camp. When asked to describe the dirt in front of the bridge, Mr. Martin answered as follows:

Well, I heard it called a hill before, but I was-- my grandparents and everything were from -- they had dirt roads and -- you know -- like ruts and stuff. There was really a hill. There was some dirt laying there, like, I guess three or four inches high, but there was nothing-- there was no hill. There was no-- there was some stuff on the sides -- you know-- to the right and the left of where the bridge--where the stuff went to the bridge, but there was no hills. There was like a -- like little mounds. Like if you was driving along what you expect on a gravel road.

(T.R. at 178).

Mr. Martin also testified that there was evidence of other vehicles traversing onto the bridge and no warning signs whatsoever. (T.R. at 179). Trey Martin, Glenn Martin, and David Hedzinger's testimony clearly evidenced the lack of warning signs or advanced warning to give the public notice of the dangerous condition.

D. Piles of Dirt and Non Permanent Signs Were not Adequate Warnings of the Dangers Associated with the Bridge at Issue

The Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (hereinafter "MUTCD") is a guide to proper warning signs. The MUTCD was adopted by the Mississippi Department of Transportation and was applicable at the time of the incident at issue in this cause. (T.R. at 112-116). It is well settled in our state that the failure to follow the mandates of the MUTCD is evidence of negligence.

Donaldson v. Covington County, 846 So. 2d 219 (Miss. 2003); Jones v. Panola County, 725 So. 2d 774 (Miss. 1998).

John Smith, Mississippi's assistant state traffic engineer, testified that the MUTCD does not allow the use of dirt for the closing of a road or bridge. (T.R. at 117). George Hammitt was qualified as an expert in the field of civil engineering and allowed to testify as to the adequacy of the warnings in this matter. (T.R. at 127). Mr. Hammitt testified there are five basic requirements, per the MUTCD, for effective traffic control devices. (T.R. at 140). The requirements are to fulfill a duty, command attention, convey a clear and simple meaning, command respect from the road users, and give adequate time for proper response. Id. Mr. Hammitt testified that dirt piles do not meet any of the five requirements for closing the bridge. Id. He also testified that nowhere in the MUTCD is dirt barricades a sanctioned method of closing a bridge. Id.

Supervisor President Woodrow Wilson admitted at trial that he had not ever heard of the MUTCD until after the tragic bridge abutment failure in May, 2004. (T.R. at 302). The following exchange occurred at trial:

- Q. You had heard of it after the accident. How did you hear of it after the accident?
- A. Because we read it in the manual where we went back to close it off properly.
- Id. The President of the Board of Supervisors admits that he was not even aware of the MUTCD at the time of the accident. It is a safe assumption that if the Board of Supervisors did not know of the manual, it could not be followed.

Mr. Hammitt testified that not only did Franklin County not follow any of the mandates of the MUTCD, but it also failed to follow any of the information put out by the Mississippi Department of Transportation and the National Association of County Engineers. (T.R. at 143-144). The County failed to put up detour signs, it failed to put up a permanent barricade with reflective tape, and it failed to have letters sent out to the public. **Id.**

The dirt piles at the abutment of the bridge actually increased the danger of failure. Mr.

Hammitt testified that if there is dirt that won't support itself(at the abutment), that placing more dirt on top of it is not a very prudent or reasonable solution. (T.R. at 147). Woodrow Wilson, president of the Board of Supervisors, testified that he knew the dirt might cause the abutment to fail. (T.R. at 290). Yet, the piling of dirt is the solution the supervisors chose to take to close the dangerous bridge.

If warning signs were placed on Garden City Road, which is disputed, they were temporary and it was common knowledge that the signs were stolen. Doreen Norris, an EMT with Franklin County, testified that it was a joke that the bridge out sign was frequently stolen. (T.R. at 213). Jimmy Jones, Chancery Clerk of Franklin County testified that he had heard the jokes about the signs being stolen, and had reordered them many times. (T.R. at 268). If Franklin County erected temporary warning signs, and knew that the signs were being stolen, it should have erected permanent signs to ensure the safety of the public. Franklin County was at least on constructive notice of the removal of the sign by third parties and failed to take appropriate precautions. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(v) and (w) (Rev. 2002).

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