IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-CA-01581

GLEN "TREY" MARTIN

APPELLANT

V.

FRANKLIN COUNTY MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE, FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ATTORNEYS OF RECORD FOR APPELLEE, FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Edward J. Currie, Jr.,

Jeremy T. Hutto

CURRIE JOHNSON GRIFFIN GAINES & MYERS, P.A.

1044 River Oaks Drive

Jackson, Mississippi 39232

P.O. Box 750

Jackson, MS 39205-0750

Telephone: (601)969-1010

Facsimile: (601) 969-5120

James A. Torrey, Jr.

Lane B. Reed (

McGehee McGehee & Torrey

P.O. Box 188

Meadville, Mississippi 39653-0188

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

III: SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly ruled in favor of Franklin County. The Court was provided with substantial and credible evidence that Franklin County provided substantial warnings to Martin that the bridge was out at the time of the accident. There was substantial evidence presented that

either Martin or Allen's negligence constituted the sole proximate cause of the accident, including, but not limited to, Martin's decision to ignore the warnings erected by Franklin County, to operate his ATV on a public road in violation of Mississippi law, at 3:30 a.m., while legally intoxicated. The credible proof also established that Martin knew the bridge was out, and was jumping or ramping the dirt embankments that had been placed on the road by Franklin County. Even if Martin was not the driver of the ATV, which was disputed at trial, Martin still had knowledge the bridge was out and chose to ignore the warnings posted by Franklin County. Therefore, the trial court also correctly found that Martin's actions were the sole proximate cause of the subject accident.

IV: STANDARD OF REVIEW

The circuit court judge sitting in this case without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor, and his findings will not be reversed on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. *Donaldson v. Covington County*, 846 So.2d 219, 222 (¶11) (Miss. 2003); *Maldonado v. Kelly*, 768 So.2d 906, 908 (Miss. 2000). A trial judge's finding is entitled to the same deference as a jury verdict and will not be reversed on appeal unless manifestly wrong. *Jones v. Jones*, 760 So.2d 828, 830 (¶10) (Miss.Ct.App. 2000); *(citing R.C. Construction Co., Inc. v. Nat'l Office Systems, Inc.*, 622 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Miss. 1993)).

V: ARGUMENT

- I. THE JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL, CREDIBLE, AND REASONABLE EVIDENCE
- A. The Lower Court correctly found that Martin's actions were the sole proximate cause of the subject accident

There was substantial and credible evidence presented to the trial court that Martin knew

the bridge was out prior the May 29, 2004 accident, that a "Bridge Out" sign was placed in the middle of Garden City Road on the night of the accident in front of the first of two dirt embankments, and that Martin and Allen while legally intoxicated deliberately ignored the warnings placed by Franklin County. Evidence was also presented that Martin or Allen was ramping the ATV on which he was riding over the dirt embankments erected by Franklin County. (See May 29, 2004 "Offense Report" at R.E. at 7, T.E. 20.)

Franklin County emergency first responder Doreen Norris testified that when she arrived at the accident scene shortly after the accident, she saw a large "Bridge Out" sign placed immediately in front of the first dirt embankment.

- Q: Now, you said you looked to see if a sign was there. What were you looking for?
- A: The bridge out sign.
- Q: Tell the Court whether or not you saw one.
- A: Yes, I did.
- Q: I am going to show you a sign.
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: I am going to ask you if the sign you saw looked like what this sign looks like.
- A: Yes, sir. It did.

(See R.E. at 6, T.R. at 202, 203.) Franklin County had a photograph of a Bridge Out sign like the one Norris saw on the night of the accident entered into evidence as Exhibit 15. (See R.E. at 5, T.E. 15.) Norris's testimony is significant in light of the fact that the Plaintiff's liability expert, George Hammitt, testified in a portion of his deposition testimony that was introduced into evidence that if a "Bridge Out" sign had been placed at the bridge, such would have constituted

adequate warning.

- Q: I'm on page - guys, I am on page 38. I want you to start reading a statement you made because - you know - when I asked questions at your deposition, you gave long answers like you're giving today, but read this answer right here to the Court at your deposition. Starting with "I just."
- A: "I just - it's a publication. I pulled it down from the internet. Also that showed how much signs would cost. I have that in here. They're usually somewhere between \$40 and \$80 for a sign to be put up saying things like bridge out or dangerous bridge or something like that would given adequate warning or prewarning." (Emphasis added.)

(See R.E. at 9, T.R. at 162, 163.) Additionally, Hammitt admitted that an intoxicated driver would be prone to ignore any type of warnings recommended by the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control (hereinafter "MUTCD"), and that a driver is not supposed to ignore posted warnings signs.

- Q: If you have impaired perception, then there is less of a chance you're going to be paying attention to the signs that are supposed to get your attention. That's fair to state, isn't it?
- A: It seems logical to me.

[Omitted Lines]

- Q: You testified at your deposition that an intoxicated driver would be paying less attention to the sign because of their impairment?
- A: I think that's generally true.

[Omitted Lines]

- Q: And you can't think of a single instance when a sign is out there, been placed our there, let's say, by a county where an operator is supposed to disobey that sign. That's a fair statement, isn't it?
- A: I mean, yes.

(See R.E. at 9, T.R. at 165, 166, 167.)

Franklin County's toxicology expert, Dr. Fredrick Carlton, testified that Martin and Allen

were both legally intoxicated at the time of the accident.

Q: [Omitted Lines] I am going to ask you whether or not based upon your education, your background, and experience in this field, based upon your review of the records, whether or not you have an opinion based upon a reasonable degree of toxicological probability what the plaintiff's blood alcohol was at approximately 3:00 a.m. on May 29, 2004, at the time of the accident?

[Omitted Lines]

- A: [Omitted Lines] Somewhere between 3:00 and 3:30, and I just picked 3:15 in my report just because it was in the middle and actually made the calculations a little bit easier, but if you back calculate from forty milligrams per deciliter if would put you at 130 milligrams per deciliter at one - I am sorry. At 3:15 which would be .13 millgrams percent at that time.
- Q: And at this time in 2004, the level of legal intoxication was what?
- A: I believe that it had already been lowered to .08 milligrams per deciliter at that time.

[Omitted Lines]

- Q: Now, I am going to ask you the same question and to shorten it I'm just going to ask the last question about the plaintiff's blood alcohol at approximately 3:00 a.m. on the morning of May 29, 2004. The same question with regard to Jennifer Allen Boyette.
- A: Right. Her blood alcohol at 7:05 that morning of May 29th was 112 milligrams per deciliter would be point .12 - .112 - I am sorry milligrams percent which if you back calculated it at a steady state, and this is making the assumption that she had reasonable, I guess, function of you know - from a cardiovascular standpoint, reasonable profusion, and I am less sure of that number to be honest, but if she was hemodynamically reasonably stable, she should have been close to .19 percent or 190 milligrams per deciliter at the time of the impact.

[Omitted Lines]

- Q: So that's more than twice the legal limit?
- A: Correct.

(See R.E. at 1, T.R. at 241, 242, 243.)

Martin even testified that he had never seen Allen operate an ATV prior to the accident, and that he was not even sure whether she knew how to crank one up.

- Q: Pages 125 of your deposition. The question is this. "And so before this night you had no knowledge if Jennifer even knew how to crank one up." Your answer was, "no." Is that right?
- A: That's what it says.
- Q: You'd never seen her on an ATV before, had you?
- A: I had never seen it, no.
- Q: I beg your pardon?
- A: I said I had never seen her on another ATV. No.
- Q: You didn't know what experience she had driving an ATV with a clutch, did you?
- A: No. I sure didn't.

(See R.E. at 15, T.R. at 77, 78.)

The trial court was justified in finding for Franklin County based upon Miss. Code § 11-46-9(1)(v). This section states, in relevant part, that "...a governmental entity shall not be liable for the failure to warn of a dangerous condition which is obvious to one exercising due care." Code section 11-46-9(1)(v) is predicated upon Martin exercising due care. Franklin County presented substantial evidence that Martin did not exercise due care with regard to a dangerous condition of which he was aware. Martin ignored the substantial warnings posted by Franklin County, including a "Road Closed" sign posted approximately 1500 feet from the entrance to the Bride, a "Bridge Closed" sign posted in front of the first dirt embankment, and the two dirt embankments placed across the roadway before the entrance to the bridge. (See R.E. at 5, 12,

T.E. 9, 15, 19.) Additionally, Franklin County presented evidence that Martin knew the bridge was out. (See R.E. at 6, T.R. at 209.) Also, even if Allen was operating the ATV in question, which is disputed, Martin admitted that he had no idea whether she even knew how to operate an ATV prior to the subject accident. (See R.E. 15, at T.R. at 77, 78.) The trial court, sitting as the finder of fact, was presented with substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence in support of its finding that that the sole proximate cause of the accident in question were the actions of Martin and Allen in deliberately proceeding past warning signs and dirt embankments placed at the bridge they knew to be closed and out. (See R.E. at 13, C.P. at 517.)

B. The trial court correctly found no negligence on the part of Franklin County

Martin argues that the trial court erred by not finding that Martin was only contributorily negligent. Martin's argument ignores the substantial proof presented that Martin knew the bridge was out and chose to ignore the warnings that were in place at the bridge entrance. Martin purports that *Newton v. Lofton*, 840 So.2d 833 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003), supports his argument that the trial court should have placed only comparative fault on him. A examination of *Newton* reveals it has no application to the case at bar.

Lofton was injured while attempting to cross a City construction site near a school gymnasium. *Newton v. Lofton*, 840 So.2d 833, 835 (¶2) (Miss.Ct.App. 2003). Lofton presented several witnesses who were present at the time of the injury and shortly thereafter, who testified that there was an absence of warnings signs and that the construction on the curb was not completed. *Id.* The City of Newton presented no witnesses who were present immediately after the accident and who could testify that any warning signs were present. Likewise, there was no mention in the opinion that Lofton was aware of the construction site or had prior knowledge of the faulty curb upon which she fell. Based upon these facts, the trial court found for Lofton. On

appeal, the Court of Appeals, applying the same standard of review which applies to the case at bar, found that "after weighing all the evidence, the trial court determined that Lofton's injury was caused by the negligence of the City of Newton, by failing to warn and protect Lofton..."

Id at (¶ 8.) Therefore, the Court of Appeals found the trial court had examined the proof before it and was justified in reaching its decision.

In the case *sub judice* the trial court was presented with evidence that Martin knew the bridge was out prior the subject accident, that substantial warnings were in place to alert Martin that the bridge was out, including a "Bridge Out" sign that was placed immediately in front of the first of two substantial dirt embankments. Also, Doreen Norris testified, while the parties were still at the accident site, she saw the Bridge Out sign in its proper place in the middle of Garden City Road, and that Hetzinger commented to her at the accident scene that Martin knew the bridge was out. (*See* R.E. at 6, T.R. at 203, 209.) The facts and proof in the case at bar, when compared to *Lofton*, demonstrate that *Lofton* lends no support to Martin's case.

Martin also argues that Franklin County's toxicology expert admitted at trial that Martin's intoxication had nothing to do with the dirt embankment collapsing. Martin's argument ignores how Martin attempted to get onto the bridge in the first place. While Martin and Allen's legal intoxication is certainly a substantial factor in regard to their negligence, this was not the only basis upon which the trial court found for Franklin County. In fact, in the third paragraph of the Court's August 8, 2008 order the Court states as follows:

The Court further finds that the plaintiff and the other individual on the four wheeler in question, both adults, were under the influence of alcohol, knew the bridge was out prior to that date, and knowingly proceeded past warning signs and dirt barricades. The Court further finds that the sole proximate cause of the accident in question was [sic] the actions of the plaintiff and the other individual in deliberately proceeding past warning signs and dirt barriers upon the end of a bridge they knew to be closed and out. (Emphasis added.)

(See R.E. at 13, C.P. at 517.)

The Mississippi Supreme Court has refused to place liability on a governmental entity where the plaintiff has knowledge of the alleged dangerous condition and decides to proceed anyway. See <u>City of Clinton v. Smith</u>, 861 So.2d 323, 328 (¶ 19) (Miss. 2003)(finding the City immune from liability in a slip and fall action where the plaintiff admitted that he knew ice and snow was located on the exit ramp); (see also <u>City of Natchez v. Jackson</u>, 941 So.2d 865, 876 (¶ 32) (Miss.Ct.App. 2006)(finding that "open and obvious" condition, when not caused by the government's negligent maintenance or repair, is a complete bar to recovery in a Tort Claims Act case);(citing <u>City of Jackson v. Internal Engine Parts Group, Inc.</u>, 903 So.2d 60, 64 (¶ 11)(Miss. 2005);(see also <u>Howard v. City of Biloxi</u>, 943 So.2d 751, 757 (¶ 16)(Miss. 2006)). Accordingly, Martin's argument that he should have been found only partially at fault is unsupported by the facts and without merit.

C. The trial court correctly excluded from evidence a newspaper article dated March 29, 2007

During trial, Martin's counsel attempted to have a newspaper article from the Franklin Advocate, (published three years post-accident), admitted into evidence. The trial court correctly refused to admit this article into evidence as it is irrelevant to the issue of what warnings were present on May 29, 2004. The Trial Judge noted that the March 29, 2007 article was not relevant to the issue of what warnings were present during the early morning hours of May 29, 2004. The Trial Judge correctly ruled to exclude the newspaper article on the basis that its admission into evidence was not relevant. (See R.E. at 9, T.R. at 136 to 138);(see also <u>Fielder v. Magnolia Beverage Co.</u>, 757 So.2d 925, 929 (Miss. 1999)(holding that evidence must be relevant in regards to making the "...existence of any fact that is of consequence to the

determination of the action more probable or less probable then it would be without the evidence.");(citing M.R.E. 401.))

Martin provides no substantive explanation as to how or why the trial court's refusal to admit the March 29, 2007 article adversely affected Martin's rights. In fact, Martin's argument is discredited by Martin's own liability expert, George Hammitt. Hammitt testified that a "Bridge Out" sign like the one Doreen Norris testified was present on the night of the accident would have been sufficient warning. (See excerpts from George Hammitt's testimony set forth above.) It is well settled that "the admissibility of evidence rests within the trial court's discretion." City of Natchez, 941 So.2d at (¶ 11);(citing Crawford v. State, 754 So.2d 1211, 1215 (¶ 7)(Miss.2000)(overruled on other grounds)). "Unless her judicial discretion is abused, this Court will not reverse her ruling." Id.

The Trial Judge was well within his discretion to refuse to admit the article into evidence. The bridge's condition three years after the accident is of no consequence to a determination of whether Franklin County provided adequate warnings on May 29, 2004. Alternatively, for the sake of argument, even if the trial court was in error in not admitting the article, which it clearly was not, such error was harmless error as Martin was allowed to present his evidence as to the condition of the bridge before the accident and at the time of the accident. Accordingly, this issue is without merit.

II. FRANKLIN COUNTY PROVIDED ADEQUATE WARNINGS

A. Warnings

Martin argues that no warning signs were present at the time of the subject accident.

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